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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

PAUL ALFRED SINCERNY, Case N0.17-cv-02616-HSG
Plaintiff,
ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’
V. MOTION TO DISMISSWITH LEAVE
TO AMEND
CITY OF WALNUT CREEK, et a .,
Re: Dkt. No. 17
Defendants.

Pending before the Court is the motion to dismiss the Complaint, filed by Defendant City
of Walnut Creek (“the City”) and the Walnut Creek Police Department (“WCPD”) Defendants:
Sergeant Ryan Hibbs, Officer Lee Herrington, Officer Adams,* and Officer Ashley Roskos
(collectively referred to as “Defendants™). Dkt. No. 17.2 For the reasons set forth below, the

Court GRANT S the motion with LEAVE TO AMEND.

l. BACKGROUND

A. Factual Allegations
On May 13, 2015, “one or more” of the WCPD Defendants stopped Plaintiff Paul Sincerny

in downtown Walnut Creek on suspicion of “peeping” on Rachel Smith® while shewasin a
restroom at the Walnut Creek Public Library. Dkt. No. 1 (“Complaint” or “Compl.”) 9 13-14.
After the alleged peeping incident, Smith called the police and reported that she had been in the

second-floor restroom of the library when it happened, that the suspect was in his late thirtiesto

Nelther party provides Officer Adams’ first name in their papers.

2 Defendants noted in their motion that counsel for the parties have agreed that the other WCPD
officers named in this case would not appear, given their l[imited or lack of involvement in the
arrest at issue. Dkt. No. 17 at 1 n.1. Defendants state that the parties will “likely be filing a
Stipulation and Proposed Order dismissing these additionally named parties.” 1d. The Court will
thus refer only to the defendants bringing this motion.

® Plaintiff has also named Smith as a defendant in this suit, although she is not among the
defendants bringing this motion.
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early forties, and that she had only been able to see the suspect’s white baseball cap and brown
eyes. 1d. 114.

Plaintiff alleges that police stopped him several blocks away from the library “because he
was ‘a subject matching the suspect description.” Id. §16.* Plaintiff isin his sixties, has blue
eyes, and “always wears strong prescriptive eyeglasses.” Id. 15. “He also has physical and
neurological limitations, including diminished mental capacity, as aresult of complications of
brain surgery some years earlier.” 1d. Without comparing Plaintiff’s appearance to Smith’s
description, police took two photos of Plaintiff using a cell phone and then sent those photos to
Smith, who identified Plaintiff as the man who peeped on her. Id. §16. Plaintiff aleges that the
photos Smith received showed his entire upper body, and did not show him wearing his
eyeglasses. 1d. Police subsequently arrested Plaintiff. Seeid. 111, 13, 17, 21.

Plaintiff explained to the arresting officer that “he was taking his daily walk along the Iron
Horse Trail that day, that he did not go into the library, and that he did not commit the alleged
crime.” 1d. 17. Police told Plaintiff that “‘they had fingerprints’ from ‘the bathroom’ at the
library, or words to that effect.” Id. Plaintiff “acknowledged that he occasionally uses the library
restroom,” not knowing that police had collected fingerprints from the “women’s restroom on the
second floor rather than either of the two men’s restrooms on the first floor . . ..” 1d. Plaintiff
alleges that “the officer used [Plaintiff’s] apparent confusion to report that [Plaintiff] was giving
contradictory statements.” 1d. Plaintiff further allegesthat police applied his handcuffs “painfully
tight.” Id. 1 21.

A surveillance video, obtained from the library, later confirmed that Plaintiff had not been

* Plaintiff referred to the WCPD Defendants’ police report relating to the incident in the
Complaint, Compl. § 16, and Defendants attached the report to their reply brief, see Dkt. No. 30-1.
While Defendants do not style their submission of the report as arequest for judicia notice, that is
its substance, and a police report is not properly the subject of judicial notice. See U.S. v. Ritchie,
342 F.3d 903, 909 (9th Cir. 2003) (citing Pina v. Henderson, 752 F.2d 47, 50 (2d Cir. 1985) for
the principle that the existence and content of a police report are not properly the subject of
judicial notice);_see also Adamsv. Kraft, No. 10-CV-00602-LHK, 2011 WL 846065, at *19 (N.D.
Cal. Mar. 8, 2011) (citing Ritchie in support of its finding that the contents of two police reports
were “not the proper subject of judicial notice”). Regardless, because the Court need not rely on
the report to decide this motion, the issue is moot.

2




United States District Court
Northern District of Caifornia

© 00 N o o b~ w N P

N N DN DN N DN N N DN P PP R R R R R R R
0o N o o M WO N P O O 0O N o oD W DN O

there that day. 1d. 118. On January 12, 2016, the case against Plaintiff was dismissed. Id. §13.
On April 25, 2016, the Superior Court entered an Order of Findings of Factual Innocence in
Plaintiff’s favor. Id. Plaintiff alleges that the City “[has] received numerous complaints and [has]
extensive additional information concerning use of excessive force and other acts of misconduct in
violation of the rules and procedures of the City of Walnut Creek . ...” 1d. §23.

B. Procedural Posture

Paintiff filed the Complaint on May 5, 2017. Dkt. No. 1. Defendants moved to dismiss
the Complaint’s second and third cause of action on August 25, 2017. Dkt. No. 17. Plaintiff filed
his opposition on September 15, 2017, Dkt. No. 26, and Defendants replied on September 22,
2017, Dkt. No. 30.
. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8(a) requires that a complaint contain “a short and plain
statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief[.]” A defendant may move to
dismiss acomplaint for failing to state a claim upon which relief can be granted under Federal
Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6). “Dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) is appropriate only where the
complaint lacks a cognizable legal theory or sufficient facts to support a cognizable legal theory.”
Mendiondo v. Centinela Hosp. Med. Ctr., 521 F.3d 1097, 1104 (9th Cir. 2008). To surviveaRule
12(b)(6) motion, a plaintiff must plead “enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible on
its face.” Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007). A claimisfacially plausible
when a plaintiff pleads “factual content that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that
the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.” Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009).

In reviewing the plausibility of a complaint, courts “accept factual allegationsin the
complaint as true and construe the pleadings in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.”
Manzarek v. &. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co., 519 F.3d 1025, 1031 (9th Cir. 2008). Nonetheless,
Courts do not “accept as true allegations that are merely conclusory, unwarranted deductions of

fact, or unreasonable inferences.” Inre Gilead Scis. Sec. Litig., 536 F.3d 1049, 1055 (9th Cir.

> This presumably refers to charges filed against Plaintiff by the district attorney, but Plaintiff has
not pled any details regarding the charges.
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2008).

If dismissal is appropriate under Rule 12(b)(6), a court “should grant leave to amend even
if no request to amend the pleading was made, unless it determines that the pleading could not
possibly be cured by the allegation of other facts.” Lopezv. Smith, 203 F.3d 1122, 1130 (Sth Cir.
2000) (quotation marks and citation omitted).

1. DISCUSSION

Defendants move to dismiss the second and third causes of action in Plaintiff’s Complaint.
The Court considers each argument in turn.

A. Second Cause of Action: Monell Liability

Plaintiff alleges that the City violated his civil rights pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1983 because,
“as a matter of policy, practice and custom,” it demonstrated “deliberate indifference” in both
hiring the WCPD Defendants and in failing to adequately train and supervise them. Compl. 1 36-
37.

1. The Monell Standard

“A government entity may not be held liable under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, unless a policy,
practice, or custom of the entity can be shown to be a moving force behind aviolation of
constitutional rights.” Dougherty v. City of Covina, 654 F.3d 892, 900 (9th Cir. 2011) (citing
Monéell v. Dep 't of Soc. Servs. of N.Y.C., 436 U.S. 658, 690-91 (1978)). To prove such municipal
liability—also called Monell liability—a plaintiff must show

(2) that [the plaintiff] possessed a constitutional right of which [s]he

was deprived; (2) that the municipality had a policy; (3) that this

policy amounts to deliberate indifference to the plaintift’s

constitutional right; and, (4) that the policy is the moving force

behind the constitutional violation.
Plumeau v. Sch. Dist. No. 40 Cnty. of Yamhill, 130 F.3d 432, 438 (9th Cir. 1997) (citation and
internal quotation marks omitted). To adequately plead a Monell claim, a plaintiff’s allegation
“may not simply recite the elements of a cause of action, but [must] contain sufficient allegations
of underlying facts” so as to provide the opposing party with fair notice so it can defend itself. AE
exrel. Hernandez v. Cnty. of Tulare, 666 F.3d 631, 637 (9th Cir. 2012) (quoting Starr v. Baca,

652 F.3d 1202, 1216 (9th Cir. 2011)).
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2. Plaintiff failsto adequately allege Monell Liability

It isunclear exactly what Plaintiff is alleging and whether it provides a basis for Monell
liability. His allegations, however, appear to fall into two categories: that the City has a custom of
(1) using excessive force during arrest and (2) employing unconstitutional suspect identification
procedures.

a. Excessive Force

Plaintiff alleges that Defendants “have received numerous complaints and have extensive
additional information concerning use of excessive force and other acts of misconduct in violation
of the rules and procedures of” Walnut Creek. Compl. 9§ 23. He further alleges that Defendants,
“as a matter of policy, practice, and custom, have with deliberate indifference failed to”
adequately hire, train, and supervise WCPD officers. 1d. 1 36-37.

The allegation that the City had “received numerous complaints and [had] extensive
additional information” concerning excessive force and other misconduct among the police force
is not sufficient to allege a custom that acts as “a moving force behind a violation of constitutional
rights.” See Dougherty, 654 F.3d at 900. Plaintiff must also alege specific supporting facts.
Asserting that the City has “received numerous complaints,” and that therefore there necessarily
must be an unspoken, City-sanctioned policy of excessive force, isinsufficient to withstand a
12(b)(6) motion. Nor isit sufficient to assert—without more—that the City, “as a matter of
policy, practice and custom” and with “deliberate indifference,” failed to adequately train,
supervise or hire its employees. See Compl. 1 36-37.

b. | dentification Procedures

Plaintiff also alleges that the WCPD Defendants “took the irregular action of
photographing Plaintiff using a cell phone and then sending the photographs” to Smith, the alleged
victim. 1d. 116.° He argues that the WCPD Defendants’ failure to “use proper law enforcement

procedures for identification of misdemeanor suspects. . . is reasonably indicative of inadequate

® In his opposition, Plaintiff cites to instructions from the California Commission on Peace Officer
Standards and Training to support his argument that police officers ought to conduct
identificationsin person. Dkt. No. 26 at 6; see also Dkt. No. 30 (attached exhibit). Plaintiff failed
to plead that fact in his Complaint, so the Court does not consider it here.
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training and of awidespread custom and practice of deliberate indifference to lax identification
procedures.” Dkt. No. 26 at 8.

To support this assertion, Plaintiff cites two Ninth Circuit cases: Fairley v. Luman, 281
F.3d 913 (9th Cir. 2002), and Jackson v. Barnes, 749 F.3d 755 (9th Cir. 2014). Dkt No. 26 at 8.
Both areinapposite. First, in Fairley, the plaintiff presented testimony that the police chief had
decided “not to instigate any procedures to alleviate the problem of detaining individuals on the
wrong warrant,” despite knowing “it was ‘not uncommon’ that individuals were arrested on the
wrong warrant.” 281 F.3d at 918. The court found this to be sufficient evidence of a policy of
“inaction.” ld. Here, Plaintiff has not pled the existence of a policy of inaction, nor has he aleged
evidence of an official decision leading to his alleged harm.

Second, in Jackson, the court found that the pro se plaintiff had adequately pled that a
sheriff’s department had a policy of inaction with regard to administering Miranda warnings, ““if
only because he has made a critical factual allegation that render[ed] his complaint specific: that
[the sheriff’s deputy] has admitted that he routinely deprived suspects of Miranda warnings as a
‘ploy’ to elicit confessions.” 749 F.3d at 763. Here, Plaintiff has made no such specific factual
allegations.

For these reasons, the Court dismisses Plaintiff’s Second Cause of Action.

B. Third Cause of Action: Violation of the ADA

Plaintiff next brings suit under the ADA, alleging that Defendants “discriminated against
Plaintiff, solely by reason of his disability,” when the WCPD Defendants “detained, investigated,
arrested, transported, and incarcerated [him] based upon his mental disability.” Compl. § 40.

1. The ADA Standard

The relevant provision of the ADA provides that “no qualified individual with a disability
shall, by reason of such disability, be excluded from participation in or be denied the benefits of
the services, programs, or activities of a public entity, or be subjected to discrimination by any
such entity.” 42 U.S.C. § 12132 (“Title IT’). “Only public entities are subject to Title IT . . . .”
City & Cnty. of SF. v. Sheehan, 135 S. Ct. 1765, 1773 (2015) (Sheehan I1). To prove disability

under the ADA, aplaintiff must show that he has
6
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(A) aphysical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or

more of the major life activities of such individual; (B) a record of

such an impairment; or (C) [is] regarded as having such an

impairment.
See Bresaz v. Cnty. of Santa Clara, 136 F. Supp. 3d 1125, 1132 (N.D. Cal. 2015) (quoting 42
U.S.C. §12102(1)). Where “a party alleges that he or she is disabled under the ADA, courts have
generally required the party to plead the disability with some factual specificity.” 1d. at 1135-36;
seealsoid. at 1136 (“[A] successful plaintiff will usually allege that he or she suffered from a
specific, recognized mental or physical illness.”). “A plaintiff additionally must specify what
major life activities his disability limits.” Algjandro v. ST Micro Elecs,, Inc., 129 F. Supp. 3d 898,
907-08 (N.D. Cal. 2015).

Although the Supreme Court recently declined to address whether the ADA appliesto

arrests, see Sheehan 11, 135 S. Ct. at 1773, the Ninth Circuit has recognized “at least two types of

Title II claims applicable to arrests”:

(1) wrongful arrest, where police wrongly arrest someone with a
disability because they misperceive the effects of that disability as
crimina  activity; and (2) reasonable accommodation, where,
although police properly investigate and arrest a person with a
disability for a crime unrelated to that disability, they fail to
reasonably accommodate the person’s disability in the course of
investigation or arrest, causing the person to suffer greater injury or
indignity in that process than other arrestees.
Sheehan v. City & Cnty. of SF., 743 F.3d 1211, 1232 (9th Cir. 2014) (“Sheehan |”) (citations
omitted), rev'd in part on other grounds, Sheehan I, 135 S. Ct. 1765.

To prevail on awrongful arrest theory under the ADA, adisabled individual must show
that ““1) he was disabled; 2) the officers knew or should have known he was disabled; and 3) the
officers arrested him because of legal conduct related to his disability.” Lawman v. City & Cnty.
of SF., 159 F. Supp. 3d 1130, 1147 (N.D. Cal. 2016). To prevail on areasonable accommodation
theory, a disabled individual must show that the public entity in question “[had] knowledge that
the individua was disabled, either because that disability is obvious or because the individual (or
someone else) has informed the entity of the disability.” Id. at 1149 (quoting Robertson v. Las

Animas Cnty. Sheriff’s Dep’t, 500 F.3d 1185, 1196 (9th Cir. 2007)).
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2. Plaintiff failsto adequately allege disability under the ADA

As an initial matter, Plaintiff’s ADA cause of action against the WCPD Defendants fails
because they are not a “public entity.” See Sheehanl, 135S. Ct. at 1773.

Asto the ADA claim that remains against the City, Plaintiff has failed to adequately allege
his disability with the requisite “factual specificity,” see Bresaz, 136 F. Supp. 3d at 1135-36,
precluding any wrongful arrest or reasonable accommodation arguments. His sole substantive
allegation regarding his disability is his claim that he “has physical and neurological limitations,
including diminished mental capacity, as aresult of complications of brain surgery some years
earlier.” Compl. § 15; seealsoid. 9 17 (referencing Plaintiff’s “diminished mental capacity”), 41
(referencing Plaintiff’s “mental disability”). Plaintiff does not allege the existence of any
“specific, recognized mental” illness. See Bresaz, 136 F. Supp. 3d at 1136. Nor does he “specify
what major life activities his disability limits.” See Algjandro, 129 F. Supp. 3d at 907-08.

Plaintiff does provide some additional detail regarding his alleged disability in his opposition. See
Dkt. No. 26 at 3 (detailing Plaintiff’s “diminished mental capacity” due to brain surgery for
hydrocephalus), 9 (alleging that Plaintiff has a “clogged shunt” and physical limitations as a result
of brain surgery). But, because Plaintiff did not plead those facts, the Court does not consider
them here.

Because Plaintiff has failed to adequately plead a disability under the ADA, the Court need
not reach the application of Title Il to his arrest, and accordingly dismisses the Third Cause of
Action.

C. Leaveto Amend

The Court will grant leave to amend “unless it determines that the pleading could not
possibly be cured by the allegation of other facts.” Lopez, 203 F.3d at 1130 (citation omitted).
Here, Plaintiff made clear in his opposition that he has additional facts that he could plead. See,
e.g., Dkt. No. 26 at 2, 3, 7, 9. The Court is unpersuaded by Defendants’ conclusory assertions that
Plaintiff’s claims cannot be cured by leave to amend, See Dkt. No. 17 at 9, 15, given the Ninth
Circuit’s clear direction on this point. Thus, in keeping with Federa Rule of Civil Procedure

15(a)’s mandate that leave be freely given, the Court grants Plaintiff leave to amend.
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V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court DI SM I SSES Plaintiff’s Complaint as to the second
and third causes of action with LEAVE TO AMEND. The partiesare ORDERED to appear at a
case management conference on October 31, 2017 at 2:00 p.m., in order to discuss the deadline for
the amended complaint and other case management matters. The parties shall submit ajoint case
management statement by October 24, 2017.

IT 1SSO ORDERED.
Dated: 10/ 17/ 2017

HAYWOOD S. GILLIAM, JR. ‘

United States District Judge




